Statutory Compilation Regarding Female Genital Mutilation Statutes

March 2013



Scope

This document is a comprehensive compilation of female genital mutilation statutes from U.S. state, territorial, and the federal jurisdictions. It is up-to-date as of March 2013.

For further assistance, consult the National District Attorneys Association's National Center for Prosecution of Child Abuse at 703.549.9222, or via the free online prosecution assistance service http://www.ndaa.org/ta_form.php.

*The statutes in this compilation are current as of March 2013. Please be advised that these statutes are subject to change in forthcoming legislation and Shepardizing is recommended.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	2
ALABAMA	6
Ala. Code § 13A-6-20 (2013). Assault; first degree	6
ALASKA	6
ALASKA STAT. § 11.41.210 (2013). ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE	
ARIZONA	
ARIZ. REV. STAT. § 13-1204 (2013). AGGRAVATED ASSAULT; CLASSIFICATION; DEFINITION	7
ARKANSAS	10
Ark. Code Ann. § 5-13-201 (2013). Battery in the first degree. Ark. Code Ann. § 9-13-402 (2013). Definitions.	
<u>CALIFORNIA</u>	13
Cal. Penal Code § 273a (2013). Willful Harm or injury to child; endangering	13 14
COLORADO	14
Colo. Rev. Stat. § 18-3-202 (2013). Assault in the first degree	
<u>CONNECTICUT</u>	19
Conn. Gen. Stat. § 53a-59 (2013). Assault in the first degree: Class B felony: Nonsuspendable sentences.	
DELAWARE	19
Del. Code Ann. tit. 11, § 780 (2013). Female genital mutilation	
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA	22
DC ST § 22-404.01 (2013). AGGRAVATED ASSAULT.	22
<u>FLORIDA</u>	22
FLa. Stat. Ann. § 794.08 (2013). Female genital mutilation.	22
<u>GEORGIA</u>	23
Ga. Code Ann. § 16-5-27 (2013). Female genital mutilation.	23
HAWAII	24
HAWAI'I REV. STAT. § 707-710 (2013). ASSAULT IN THE FIRST DEGREE	
IDAHO	24

Idaho Code Ann. § 18-1506A (2013). Ritualized abuse of a child Exclusions Penalties - Definition.	
ILLINOIS	25
325 ILL. COMP. STAT. 5/3 (2013). DEFINITIONS	25
720 ILL. COMP. STAT. 5/12-32 (2013). RITUAL MUTILATION	
720 ILL. COMP. STAT. 5/12-33 (2013). RITUALIZED ABUSE OF A CHILD.	
720 ILL. COMP. STAT. 5/12-34 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION.	
<u>INDIANA</u>	29
INDIANA CODE § 35-42-2-1.5 (2013). AGGRAVATED BATTERY	29
<u>IOWA</u>	29
KANSAS	29
KAN. STAT. ANN. § 21-5413 (2013). BATTERY; AGGRAVATED BATTERY; BATTERY AGAINST A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER; AGGRAVATED BATTERY AGAINST A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER; BATTERY AGAINST A SCHOOL EMPLOYEE; BATTERY AGAINST A MENTAL HEALTH EMPLOYEE.	29
<u>KENTUCKY</u>	33
KEN. REV. STAT. ANN. § 508.020 (2013). ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE	33
LOUISIANA	33
La. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 14:34.1 (2013). Second degree battery	33
La. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 14:107.1 (2013). Ritualistic acts	
<u>MAINE</u>	35
Maine Rev. Stat. Ann., § 208 (2013). Aggravated Assault	35
MARYLAND	36
MD. CODE ANN., HEALTH-GEN. § 20-601 (2013). Female genital mutilation prohibited	36
INDIVIDUAL. MD. CODE ANN., HEALTH-GEN. § 20-603 (2013). FINES AND PENALTIES	
MASSACHUSETTS	
MASS. GEN. LAWS ANN. § 265.14 (2013). MAYHEM; PUNISHMENT	
MICH. COMP. LAWS § 750.86 (2013). ASSAULT WITH INTENT TO MAIM.	
MINNESOTA	
MINN. STAT. § 144.3872 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION; EDUCATION AND OUTREACH	
MINN. STAT. § 609.2245 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION; PENALTIES.	
MISSISSIPPI	
MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-3-59 (2013). MAYHEM, DEFINITION AND PUNISHMENT.	
MISSOURI	38
Mo. Rev. Stat. § 568.065 (2013). Genital mutilation of a female child, penaltyaffirmative defenses.	
MONITANIA	20

Mon. Code Ann. § 455-2-202 (2013). Aggravated Assault	39
NEBRASKA	39
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 28-308 (2013). Assault in the first degree; penalty	39
NEVADA	39
NEV. REV. STAT. ANN. § 200.5083 (2013). MUTILATION OF GENITALIA OF FEMALE CHILD: PENALT DEFINITIONS.	
NEW HAMPSHIRE	40
N.H. REV. STAT. ANN. § 631:2 (2013). SECOND DEGREE ASSAULT.	40
NEW JERSEY	41
NEW MEXICO	41
N.M. Stat. Ann. § 30-9-10 (2013). Definitions	41
NEW YORK	42
N.Y. PENAL LAW § 130.85 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION.	42
NORTH CAROLINA	43
N.C. GEN. STAT. § 14-32.4 (2013). ASSAULT INFLICTING SERIOUS BODILY INJURY; STRANGULATION PENALTIES.	
NORTH DAKOTA	43
N.D. CENT. CODE § 12.1-36-01 (2013). SURGICAL ALTERATION OF THE GENITALS OF FEMALE MINOPENALTY EXCEPTION	
<u>OHIO</u>	44
OKLAHOMA	44
OKLA. STAT. ANN. TIT. 21, §751 (2013). MAIMING DEFINED. OKLA. STAT. ANN. TIT. 21, §760 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION.	
<u>OREGON</u>	44
OR. REV. STAT. § 163.207 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION. OR. REV. STAT. § 431.827 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION PREVENTION AND EDUCATION ACTIVITIES.	
PENNSYLVANIA	46
RHODE ISLAND	46
R.I. Gen. Laws § 11-5-2 (2013). Felony assault	46
SOUTH CAROLINA	46
SOUTH DAKOTA	46
TENNESSEE	46
TENN. CODE ANN. § 39-13-110 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION	46
TEXAS	47
Tex. Fam. Code Ann. § 153.502 (2013). Abduction Risk Factors	
7/m / 77	40

UTAH CODE ANN. § 76-5-109 (2013). CHILD ABUSECHILD ABANDONMENT	49
<u>VERMONT</u>	52
Vt. Stat. Ann. § 2701 (2013). Definition of and penalty for maiming	52
<u>VIRGINIA</u>	53
WASHINGTON	53
WEST VIRGINIA	53
W. Va. Code Ann. § 61-8D-3a (2013). Female genital mutilation; penalties; definitions	53
<u>WISCONSIN</u>	53
WIS. STAT. ANN. § 146.35 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION PROHIBITED.	53
<u>WYOMING</u>	54
FEDERAL LEGISLATION	54
8 U.S.C.S. § 1374 (2013). Information regarding female genital mutilation	
AMERICAN SAMOA	55
<u>GUAM</u>	55
PUERTO RICO	55
VIRGIN ISLANDS	55

ALABAMA

ALA. CODE § 13A-6-20 (2013). ASSAULT; FIRST DEGREE.

- (a) A person commits the crime of assault in the first degree if:
- (1) With intent to cause serious physical injury to another person, he causes serious physical injury to any person by means of a deadly weapon or a dangerous instrument; or
- (2) With intent to disfigure another person seriously and permanently, or to destroy, amputate or disable permanently a member or organ of his body, he causes such an injury to any person; or
- (3) Under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life, he recklessly engages in conduct which creates a grave risk of death to another person, and thereby causes serious physical injury to any person; or
- (4) In the course of and in furtherance of the commission or attempted commission of arson in the first degree, burglary in the first or second degree, escape in the first degree, kidnapping in the first degree, rape in the first degree, robbery in any degree, sodomy in the first degree or any other felony clearly dangerous to human life, or of immediate flight therefrom, he causes a serious physical injury to another person; or
- (5) While driving under the influence of alcohol or a controlled substance or any combination thereof in violation of Section 32-5A-191 he causes serious bodily injury to the person of another with a motor vehicle.
- (b) Assault in the first degree is a Class B felony.

ALASKA

ALASKA STAT. § 11.41.210 (2013). ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE.

- (a) A person commits the crime of assault in the second degree if
- (1) with intent to cause physical injury to another person, that person causes physical injury to another person by means of a dangerous instrument;
 - (2) that person recklessly causes serious physical injury to another person; or
- (3) that person recklessly causes serious physical injury to another by repeated assaults, even if each assault individually does not cause serious physical injury.
- (b) Assault in the second degree is a class B felony.

ARIZONA

ARIZ. REV. STAT. § 13-1204 (2013). AGGRAVATED ASSAULT; CLASSIFICATION; DEFINITION.

- A. A person commits aggravated assault if the person commits assault as prescribed by section 13-1203 under any of the following circumstances:
 - 1. If the person causes serious physical injury to another.
 - 2. If the person uses a deadly weapon or dangerous instrument.
- 3. If the person commits the assault by any means of force that causes temporary but substantial disfigurement, temporary but substantial loss or impairment of any body organ or part or a fracture of any body part.
- 4. If the person commits the assault while the victim is bound or otherwise physically restrained or while the victim's capacity to resist is substantially impaired.
- 5. If the person commits the assault after entering the private home of another with the intent to commit the assault.
- 6. If the person is eighteen years of age or older and commits the assault on a minor under fifteen years of age
- 7. If the person commits assault as prescribed by section 13-1203, subsection A, paragraph 1 or 3 and the person is in violation of an order of protection issued against the person pursuant to section 13-3602 or 13-3624.
- 8. If the person commits the assault knowing or having reason to know that the victim is any of the following:
- (a) A peace officer, or a person summoned and directed by the officer while engaged in the execution of any official duties.
- (b) A constable, or a person summoned and directed by the constable while engaged in the execution of any official duties.
- (c) A firefighter, fire investigator, fire inspector, emergency medical technician or paramedic engaged in the execution of any official duties, or a person summoned and directed by such individual while engaged in the execution of any official duties.
- (d) A teacher or other person employed by any school and the teacher or other employee is on the grounds of a school or grounds adjacent to the school or is in any part of a building or vehicle used for school purposes, any teacher or school nurse visiting a private home in the course of the teacher's or nurse's professional duties or any teacher engaged in any authorized and organized classroom activity held on other than school grounds.

- (e) A health care practitioner who is certified or licensed pursuant to title 32, chapter 13, 15, 17 or 25, or a person summoned and directed by the licensed health care practitioner while engaged in the person's professional duties. This subdivision does not apply if the person who commits the assault is seriously mentally ill, as defined in section 36-550, or is afflicted with alzheimer's disease or related dementia.
 - (f) A prosecutor.
 - (g) A code enforcement officer as defined in section 39-123.
 - (h) A state or municipal park ranger.
 - (i) A public defender.
 - 9. If the person knowingly takes or attempts to exercise control over any of the following:
- (a) A peace officer's or other officer's firearm and the person knows or has reason to know that the victim is a peace officer or other officer employed by one of the agencies listed in paragraph 10, subdivision (a), item (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) or (v) of this subsection and is engaged in the execution of any official duties.
- (b) Any weapon other than a firearm that is being used by a peace officer or other officer or that the officer is attempting to use, and the person knows or has reason to know that the victim is a peace officer or other officer employed by one of the agencies listed in paragraph 10, subdivision (a), item (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) or (v) of this subsection and is engaged in the execution of any official duties.
- (c) Any implement that is being used by a peace officer or other officer or that the officer is attempting to use, and the person knows or has reason to know that the victim is a peace officer or other officer employed by one of the agencies listed in paragraph 10, subdivision (a), item (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) or (v) of this subsection and is engaged in the execution of any official duties. For the purposes of this subdivision, "implement" means an object that is designed for or that is capable of restraining or injuring an individual. Implement does not include handcuffs.
 - 10. If the person meets both of the following conditions:
 - (a) Is imprisoned or otherwise subject to the custody of any of the following:
 - (i) The state department of corrections.
 - (ii) The department of juvenile corrections.
 - (iii) A law enforcement agency.
 - (iv) A county or city jail or an adult or juvenile detention facility of a city or county.
- (v) Any other entity that is contracting with the state department of corrections, the department of juvenile corrections, a law enforcement agency, another state, any private

correctional facility, a county, a city or the federal bureau of prisons or other federal agency that has responsibility for sentenced or unsentenced prisoners.

- (b) Commits an assault knowing or having reason to know that the victim is acting in an official capacity as an employee of any of the entities listed in subdivision (a) of this paragraph.
- B. A person commits aggravated assault if the person commits assault by either intentionally, knowingly or recklessly causing any physical injury to another person, intentionally placing another person in reasonable apprehension of imminent physical injury or knowingly touching another person with the intent to injure the person, and both of the following occur:
- 1. The person intentionally or knowingly impedes the normal breathing or circulation of blood of another person by applying pressure to the throat or neck or by obstructing the nose and mouth either manually or through the use of an instrument.
- 2. Any of the circumstances exists that are set forth in section 13-3601, subsection A, paragraph 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 or 6.
- C. A person who is convicted of intentionally or knowingly committing aggravated assault on a peace officer while the officer is engaged in the execution of any official duties pursuant to subsection A, paragraph 1 or 2 of this section shall be sentenced to imprisonment for not less than the presumptive sentence authorized under chapter 7 of this title and is not eligible for suspension of sentence, commutation or release on any basis until the sentence imposed is served.
- D. Except pursuant to subsections E and F of this section, aggravated assault pursuant to subsection A, paragraph 1 or 2 or paragraph 9, subdivision (a) of this section is a class 3 felony except if the victim is under fifteen years of age in which case it is a class 2 felony punishable pursuant to section 13-705. Aggravated assault pursuant to subsection A, paragraph 3 or subsection B of this section is a class 4 felony. Aggravated assault pursuant to subsection A, paragraph 9, subdivision (b) or paragraph 10 of this section is a class 5 felony. Aggravated assault pursuant to subsection A, paragraph 4, 5, 6, 7, or 8 or paragraph 9, subdivision (c) of this section is a class 6 felony.
- E. Aggravated assault pursuant to subsection A, paragraph 1 or 2 of this section committed on a peace officer while the officer is engaged in the execution of any official duties is a class 2 felony. Aggravated assault pursuant to subsection A, paragraph 3 of this section committed on a peace officer while the officer is engaged in the execution of any official duties is a class 3 felony. Aggravated assault pursuant to subsection A, paragraph 8, subdivision (a) of this section committed on a peace officer while the officer is engaged in the execution of any official duties is a class 5 felony unless the assault results in any physical injury to the peace officer while the officer is engaged in the execution of any official duties, in which case it is a class 4 felony.
- F. Aggravated assault pursuant to:
- 1. Subsection A, paragraph 1 or 2 of this section is a class 2 felony if committed on a prosecutor.
 - 2. Subsection A, paragraph 3 of this section is a class 3 felony if committed on a prosecutor.

- 3. Subsection A, paragraph 8, subdivision (f) of this section is a class 5 felony if the assault results in physical injury to a prosecutor.
- G. For the purposes of this section, "prosecutor" means a county attorney, a municipal prosecutor or the attorney general and includes an assistant or deputy county attorney, municipal prosecutor or attorney general.

ARKANSAS

ARK. CODE ANN. § 5-13-201 (2013). BATTERY IN THE FIRST DEGREE.

- (a) A person commits battery in the first degree if:
- (1) With the purpose of causing serious physical injury to another person, the person causes serious physical injury to any person by means of a deadly weapon;
- (2) With the purpose of seriously and permanently disfiguring another person or of destroying, amputating, or permanently disabling a member or organ of that other person's body, the person causes such an injury to any person;
- (3) The person causes serious physical injury to another person under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life;
 - (4) Acting alone or with one (1) or more other persons:
 - (A) The person commits or attempts to commit a felony; and
 - (B) In the course of and in furtherance of the felony or in immediate flight from the felony:
- (i) The person or an accomplice causes serious physical injury to any person under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life; or
- (ii) Another person who is resisting the felony or flight causes serious physical injury to any person;
- (5) With the purpose of causing serious physical injury to an unborn child or to a woman who is pregnant with an unborn child, the person causes serious physical injury to the unborn child;
- (6) The person knowingly causes physical injury to a pregnant woman in the commission of a felony or a Class A misdemeanor, and in so doing, causes serious physical injury to the pregnant woman's unborn child, and the unborn child is subsequently born alive;
- (7) The person knowingly, without legal justification, causes serious physical injury to a person he or she knows to be twelve (12) years of age or younger;
- (8) With the purpose of causing physical injury to another person, the person causes physical injury to any person by means of a firearm; or

- (9) The person knowingly causes serious physical injury to any person four (4) years of age or younger under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life.
- (b) It is an affirmative defense in any prosecution under subdivision (a)(4) of this section in which the defendant was not the only participant that the defendant:
- (1) Did not commit the battery or in any way solicit, command, induce, procure, counsel, or aid the battery's commission;
 - (2) Was not armed with a deadly weapon;
 - (3) Reasonably believed that no other participant was armed with a deadly weapon; and
- (4) Reasonably believed that no other participant intended to engage in conduct that could result in serious physical injury.
- (c) (1) Except as provided in subdivisions (c)(2) and (3) of this section, battery in the first degree is a Class B felony.
- (2) Battery in the first degree is a Class Y felony under the circumstances described in subdivision (a)(9) of this section.
- (3) Battery in the first degree is a Class Y felony if the injured person is a law enforcement officer acting in the line of duty.

ARK. CODE ANN. § 9-13-402 (2013). DEFINITIONS.

As used in this subchapter:

- (1) "Child" means a minor under eighteen (18) years of age who is the subject of a custody or visitation;
 - (A) Matter currently pending before a court; or
 - (B) Order that has been issued by a court;
 - (2) "Court" means any circuit court of competent jurisdiction;
- (3) "Custodian" means the custodial parent, legal guardian, or lawful custodian of the child as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in the State of Arkansas;
 - (4) "Dual nationality" means the simultaneous possession of citizenship in two (2) countries;
- (5) (A) "Human rights" means the basic principles that recognize each child's freedom and right to be protected from abuse and neglect.
 - (B) "Human rights" includes the protection of children from:
 - (i) Abuse and neglect;

(ii) Arranged marriages;
(iii) Child labor;
(iv) Genital mutilation;
(v) Sexual exploitation;
(vi) Slavery;
(vii) Torture and the deprivation of liberty; and
(viii) Armed conflicts.
(C) "Human rights" includes the right of children to:
(i) Survive and develop;
(ii) A name from birth;
(iii) Be granted a nationality;
(iv) Freedom of expression;
(v) Freedom of thought, conscience, and religion; and
(vi) A free and compulsory education;
(6) "International child abduction" means the act of taking away, enticing away, withholding, keeping, or concealing a child from his or her parent or custodian by removing the child from the United States;
(7) "Parent" means the biological or adoptive parent of a child;
(8) "Registration" means the official act of notification or documentation of the birth, name, or lineage of an individual; and
(9) "Security professional" means:
(A) A bodyguard;
(B) An off-duty certified law enforcement officer;
(C) A person who holds a license issued by the State of Arkansas or another state; or

(D) A person who has past experience or training as a professional in the area of securing the

safety of persons.

CALIFORNIA

CAL. PENAL CODE § 273A (2013). WILLFUL HARM OR INJURY TO CHILD; ENDANGERING PERSON OR HEALTH; PUNISHMENT; CONDITIONS OF PROBATION.

- (a) Any person who, under circumstances or conditions likely to produce great bodily harm or death, willfully causes or permits any child to suffer, or inflicts thereon unjustifiable physical pain or mental suffering, or having the care or custody of any child, willfully causes or permits the person or health of that child to be injured, or willfully causes or permits that child to be placed in a situation where his or her person or health is endangered, shall be punished by imprisonment in a county jail not exceeding one year, or in the state prison for two, four, or six years.
- (b) Any person who, under circumstances or conditions other than those likely to produce great bodily harm or death, willfully causes or permits any child to suffer, or inflicts thereon unjustifiable physical pain or mental suffering, or having the care or custody of any child, willfully causes or permits the person or health of that child to be injured, or willfully causes or permits that child to be placed in a situation where his or her person or health may be endangered, is guilty of a misdemeanor.
- (c) If a person is convicted of violating this section and probation is granted, the court shall require the following minimum conditions of probation:
 - (1) A mandatory minimum period of probation of 48 months.
- (2) A criminal court protective order protecting the victim from further acts of violence or threats, and, if appropriate, residence exclusion or stay-away conditions.

(3)

- (A) Successful completion of no less than one year of a child abuser's treatment counseling program approved by the probation department. The defendant shall be ordered to begin participation in the program immediately upon the grant of probation. The counseling program shall meet the criteria specified in Section 273.1. The defendant shall produce documentation of program enrollment to the court within 30 days of enrollment, along with quarterly progress reports.
- (B) The terms of probation for offenders shall not be lifted until all reasonable fees due to the counseling program have been paid in full, but in no case shall probation be extended beyond the term provided in subdivision (a) of Section 1203.1. If the court finds that the defendant does not have the ability to pay the fees based on the defendant's changed circumstances, the court may reduce or waive the fees.
- (4) If the offense was committed while the defendant was under the influence of drugs or alcohol, the defendant shall abstain from the use of drugs or alcohol during the period of probation and shall be subject to random drug testing by his or her probation officer.
- (5) The court may waive any of the above minimum conditions of probation upon a finding that the condition would not be in the best interests of justice. The court shall state on the record its reasons for any waiver.

CAL. PENAL CODE § 273.4 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION; ADDITIONAL PUNISHMENT.

- (a) If the act constituting a felony violation of subdivision (a) of Section 273a was female genital mutilation, as defined in subdivision (b), the defendant shall be punished by an additional term of imprisonment in the state prison for one year, in addition and consecutive to the punishment prescribed by Section 273a.
- (b) "Female genital mutilation" means the excision or infibulation of the labia majora, labia minora, clitoris, or vulva, performed for nonmedical purposes.
- (c) Nothing in this section shall preclude prosecution under Section 203, 205, or 206 or any other provision of law.

CAL. HEALTH & SAFETY CODE § 124170 (2013). EDUCATIONAL, PREVENTATIVE AND OUTREACH ACTIVITIES FOCUSING ON NEW IMMIGRANT POPULATIONS; ESTABLISHMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION.

The State Department of Health Services, in consultation with the State Department of Social Services and the appropriate federal agency or department, shall establish and implement appropriate education, preventative, and outreach activities, focusing on the new immigrant populations that traditionally practice female genital mutilation, for the purpose of informing members of those communities of the health risks and emotional trauma inflicted by this practice and informing those communities and the medical community of the prohibition and ramifications of Section 273.4 of the Penal Code.

<u>COLORADO</u>

COLO. REV. STAT. § 18-3-202 (2013). ASSAULT IN THE FIRST DEGREE.

- (1) A person commits the crime of assault in the first degree if:
- (a) With intent to cause serious bodily injury to another person, he causes serious bodily injury to any person by means of a deadly weapon; or
- (b) With intent to disfigure another person seriously and permanently, or to destroy, amputate, or disable permanently a member or organ of his body, he causes such an injury to any person; or
- (c) Under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life, he knowingly engages in conduct which creates a grave risk of death to another person, and thereby causes serious bodily injury to any person; or
 - (d) Repealed by Laws 1995, H.B.95-1070, § 6, eff. July 1, 1995.
- (e) With intent to cause serious bodily injury upon the person of a peace officer or firefighter, he or she threatens with a deadly weapon a peace officer or firefighter engaged in the performance of his or her duties, and the offender knows or reasonably should know that the victim is a peace officer or firefighter acting in the performance of his or her duties; or

- (e.5) With intent to cause serious bodily injury upon the person of a judge of a court of competent jurisdiction or an officer of said court, he threatens with a deadly weapon a judge of a court of competent jurisdiction or an officer of said court, and the offender knows or reasonably should know that the victim is a judge of a court of competent jurisdiction or an officer of said court; or
- (f) While lawfully confined or in custody as a result of being charged with or convicted of a crime or as a result of being charged as a delinquent child or adjudicated as a delinquent child and with intent to cause serious bodily injury to a person employed by or under contract with a detention facility, as defined in section 18-8-203(3), or to a person employed by the division in the department of human services responsible for youth services and who is a youth services counselor or is in the youth services worker classification series, he or she threatens with a deadly weapon such a person engaged in the performance of his or her duties and the offender knows or reasonably should know that the victim is such a person engaged in the performance of his or her duties while employed by or under contract with a detention facility or while employed by the division in the department of human services responsible for youth services. A sentence imposed pursuant to this paragraph (f) shall be served in the department of corrections and shall run consecutively with any sentences being served by the offender. A person who participates in a work release program, a furlough, or any other similar authorized supervised or unsupervised absence from a detention facility, as defined in section 18-8-203 (3), and who is required to report back to the detention facility at a specified time shall be deemed to be in custody.
- (2) (a) If assault in the first degree is committed under circumstances where the act causing the injury is performed upon a sudden heat of passion, caused by a serious and highly provoking act of the intended victim, affecting the person causing the injury sufficiently to excite an irresistible passion in a reasonable person, and without an interval between the provocation and the injury sufficient for the voice of reason and humanity to be heard, it is a class 5 felony.
- (b) If assault in the first degree is committed without the circumstances provided in paragraph (a) of this subsection (2), it is a class 3 felony.
- (c) If a defendant is convicted of assault in the first degree pursuant to subsection (1) of this section, the court shall sentence the defendant in accordance with the provisions of section 18-1.3-406.
 - (d) Repealed by Laws 1995, H.B.95-1070, § 6, eff. July 1, 1995.

COLO. REV. STAT. § 18-6-401 (2013). CHILD ABUSE.

- (1) (a) A person commits child abuse if such person causes an injury to a child's life or health, or permits a child to be unreasonably placed in a situation that poses a threat of injury to the child's life or health, or engages in a continued pattern of conduct that results in malnourishment, lack of proper medical care, cruel punishment, mistreatment, or an accumulation of injuries that ultimately results in the death of a child or serious bodily injury to a child.
- (b) (I) Except as otherwise provided in subparagraph (III) of this paragraph (b), a person commits child abuse if such person excises or infibulates, in whole or in part, the labia majora, labia minora, vulva, or clitoris of a female child. A parent, guardian, or other person legally

responsible for a female child or charged with the care or custody of a female child commits child abuse if he or she allows the excision or infibulation, in whole or in part, of such child's labia majora, labia minora, vulva, or clitoris.

- (II) Belief that the conduct described in subparagraph (I) of this paragraph (b) is required as a matter of custom, ritual, or standard practice or consent to the conduct by the child on whom it is performed or by the child's parent or legal guardian shall not be an affirmative defense to a charge of child abuse under this paragraph (b).
- (III) A surgical procedure as described in subparagraph (I) of this paragraph (b) is not a crime if the procedure:
- (A) Is necessary to preserve the health of the child on whom it is performed and is performed by a person licensed to practice medicine under article 36 of title 12, C.R.S.; or
- (B) Is performed on a child who is in labor or who has just given birth and is performed for medical purposes connected with that labor or birth by a person licensed to practice medicine under article 36 of title 12, C.R.S.
- (IV) If the district attorney having jurisdiction over a case arising under this paragraph (b) has a reasonable belief that any person arrested or charged pursuant to this paragraph (b) is not a citizen or national of the United States, the district attorney shall report such information to the immigration and naturalization service, or any successor agency, in an expeditious manner.
- (c) (I) A person commits child abuse if, in the presence of a child, or on the premises where a child is found, or where a child resides, or in a vehicle containing a child, the person knowingly engages in the manufacture or attempted manufacture of a controlled substance, as defined by section 18-18-102(5), or knowingly possesses ephedrine, pseudoephedrine, or phenylpropanolamine, or their salts, isomers, or salts of isomers, with the intent to use the product as an immediate precursor in the manufacture of a controlled substance. It shall be no defense to the crime of child abuse, as described in this subparagraph (I), that the defendant did not know a child was present, a child could be found, a child resided on the premises, or that a vehicle contained a child.
- (II) A parent or lawful guardian of a child or a person having the care or custody of a child who knowingly allows the child to be present at or reside at a premises or to be in a vehicle where the parent, guardian, or person having care or custody of the child knows or reasonably should know another person is engaged in the manufacture or attempted manufacture of methamphetamine commits child abuse.
- (III) A parent or lawful guardian of a child or a person having the care or custody of a child who knowingly allows the child to be present at or reside at a premises or to be in a vehicle where the parent, guardian, or person having care or custody of the child knows or reasonably should know another person possesses ephedrine, pseudoephedrine, or phenylpropanolamine, or their salts, isomers, or salts of isomers, with the intent to use the product as an immediate precursor in the manufacture of methamphetamine commits child abuse.
- (2) In this section, "child" means a person under the age of sixteen years.

- (3) The statutory privilege between patient and physician and between husband and wife shall not be available for excluding or refusing testimony in any prosecution for a violation of this section.
- (4) No person, other than the perpetrator, complicitor, coconspirator, or accessory, who reports an instance of child abuse to law enforcement officials shall be subjected to criminal or civil liability for any consequence of making such report unless he knows at the time of making it that it is untrue.
- (5) Deferred prosecution is authorized for a first offense under this section unless the provisions of subsection (7.5) of this section or section 18-6-401.2 apply.
- (6) Repealed by Laws 2001, Ch. 125, § 1, eff. July 1, 2001.
- (7) (a) Where death or injury results, the following shall apply:
- (I) When a person acts knowingly or recklessly and the child abuse results in death to the child, it is a class 2 felony except as provided in paragraph (c) of this subsection (7).
- (II) When a person acts with criminal negligence and the child abuse results in death to the child, it is a class 3 felony.
- (III) When a person acts knowingly or recklessly and the child abuse results in serious bodily injury to the child, it is a class 3 felony.
- (IV) When a person acts with criminal negligence and the child abuse results in serious bodily injury to the child, it is a class 4 felony.
- (V) When a person acts knowingly or recklessly and the child abuse results in any injury other than serious bodily injury, it is a class 1 misdemeanor; except that, if it is committed under the circumstances described in paragraph (e) of this subsection (7), then it is a class 5 felony.
- (VI) When a person acts with criminal negligence and the child abuse results in any injury other than serious bodily injury to the child, it is a class 2 misdemeanor; except that, if it is committed under the circumstances described in paragraph (e) of this subsection (7), then it is a class 5 felony.
 - (b) Where no death or injury results, the following shall apply:
- (I) An act of child abuse when a person acts knowingly or recklessly is a class 2 misdemeanor; except that, if it is committed under the circumstances described in paragraph (e) of this subsection (7), then it is a class 5 felony.
- (II) An act of child abuse when a person acts with criminal negligence is a class 3 misdemeanor; except that, if it is committed under the circumstances described in paragraph (e) of this subsection (7), then it is a class 5 felony.
- (c) When a person knowingly causes the death of a child who has not yet attained twelve years of age and the person committing the offense is one in a position of trust with respect to the child, such person commits the crime of murder in the first degree as described in section 18-3-102(1)(f).

- (d) When a person commits child abuse as described in paragraph (c) of subsection (1) of this section, it is a class 3 felony.
- (e) A person who has previously been convicted of a violation of this section or of an offense in any other state, the United States, or any territory subject to the jurisdiction of the United States that would constitute child abuse if committed in this state and who commits child abuse as provided in subparagraph (V) or (VI) of paragraph (a) of this subsection (7) or as provided in subparagraph (I) or (II) of paragraph (b) of this subsection (7) commits a class 5 felony if the trier of fact finds that the new offense involved any of the following acts:
- (I) The defendant, who was in a position of trust, as described in section 18-3-401(3.5), in relation to the child, participated in a continued pattern of conduct that resulted in the child's malnourishment or failed to ensure the child's access to proper medical care;
- (II) The defendant participated in a continued pattern of cruel punishment or unreasonable isolation or confinement of the child;
- (III) The defendant made repeated threats of harm or death to the child or to a significant person in the child's life, which threats were made in the presence of the child;
- (IV) The defendant committed a continued pattern of acts of domestic violence, as that term is defined in section 18-6-800.3, in the presence of the child; or
- (V) The defendant participated in a continued pattern of extreme deprivation of hygienic or sanitary conditions in the child's daily living environment.
- (7.3) Felony child abuse is an extraordinary risk crime that is subject to the modified presumptive sentencing range specified in section 18-1.3-401(10). Misdemeanor child abuse is an extraordinary risk crime that is subject to the modified sentencing range specified in section 18-1.3-501(3).
- (7.5) If a defendant is convicted of the class 2 or class 3 felony of child abuse under subparagraph (I) or (III) of paragraph (a) of subsection (7) of this section, the court shall sentence the defendant in accordance with section 18-1.3-401(8)(d).
- (8) Repealed by Laws 1990, H.B.90-1093, § 6.
- (9) If a parent is charged with permitting a child to be unreasonably placed in a situation that poses a threat of injury to the child's life or health, pursuant to paragraph (a) of subsection (1) of this section, and the child was seventy-two hours old or younger at the time of the alleged offense, it shall be an affirmative defense to such charge that the parent safely, reasonably, and knowingly handed the child over to a firefighter, as defined in section 18-3-201(1), or to a hospital staff member who engages in the admission, care, or treatment of patients, when such firefighter is at a fire station or such hospital staff member is at a hospital.

CONNECTICUT

CONN. GEN. STAT. § 53A-59 (2013). ASSAULT IN THE FIRST DEGREE: CLASS B FELONY: NONSUSPENDABLE SENTENCES.

- (a) A person is guilty of assault in the first degree when: (1) With intent to cause serious physical injury to another person, he causes such injury to such person or to a third person by means of a deadly weapon or a dangerous instrument; or (2) with intent to disfigure another person seriously and permanently, or to destroy, amputate or disable permanently a member or organ of his body, he causes such injury to such person or to a third person; or (3) under circumstances evincing an extreme indifference to human life he recklessly engages in conduct which creates a risk of death to another person, and thereby causes serious physical injury to another person; or (4) with intent to cause serious physical injury to another person and while aided by two or more other persons actually present, he causes such injury to such person or to a third person; or (5) with intent to cause physical injury to another person, he causes such injury to such person or to a third person by means of the discharge of a firearm.
- (b) Assault in the first degree is a class B felony provided (1) any person found guilty under subdivision (1) of subsection (a) shall be sentenced to a term of imprisonment of which five years of the sentence imposed may not be suspended or reduced by the court and (2) any person found guilty under subsection (a) shall be sentenced to a term of imprisonment of which ten years of the sentence imposed may not be suspended or reduced by the court if the victim of the offense is a person under ten years of age or if the victim of the offense is a witness, as defined in section 53a-146, and the actor knew the victim was a witness.

DELAWARE

DEL. CODE ANN. TIT. 11, § 780 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION.

- (a) A person is guilty of female genital mutilation when:
- (1) A person knowingly circumcises, excises or infibulates the whole or any part of the labia majora, labia minora or clitoris of a female minor; or
- (2) A parent, guardian or other person legally responsible or charged with the care or custody of a female minor allows the circumcision, excision or infibulation, in whole or in part, of such minor's labia majora, labia minora or clitoris.
- (b) Female genital mutilation is a class E felony.
- (c) It is not a defense to a violation that the conduct described in subsection (a) of this section above is required as a matter of custom, ritual or standard practice, or that the minor on whom it is performed or the minor's parent or legal guardian consented to the procedure.
- (d) A surgical procedure is not a violation of this section if the procedure is:

- (1) Necessary to the health of the minor on whom it is performed and is performed by a licensed physician under § 1720 of Title 24 or a physician-in-training under the supervision of a licensed physician; or
- (2) Performed on a minor who is in labor or who has just given birth and is performed for medical purposes connected with that labor or birth by a licensed physician under § 1720 of Title 24 or a physician-in-training under the supervision of a licensed physician, or a licensed midwife under § 3336 of Title 18.

DEL. CODE ANN. TIT. 11, § 1105 (2013). CRIME AGAINST A VULNERABLE ADULT.

- (a) Any person who commits, or attempts to commit, any of the crimes or offenses set forth in subsection (f) of this section against a person who is a vulnerable adult is guilty of a crime against a vulnerable adult.
- (b) A crime against a vulnerable adult shall be punished as follows:
- (1) If the underlying offense is an unclassified misdemeanor, or a class B misdemeanor, the crime against a vulnerable adult shall be a class A misdemeanor;
- (2) If the underlying offense is a class A misdemeanor, the crime against a vulnerable adult shall be a class G felony;
- (3) If the underlying offense is a class D, E, F, or G felony, the crime against a vulnerable adult shall be 1 class higher than the underlying offense.
- (c) "Vulnerable adult" means a person 18 years of age or older who, by reason of isolation, sickness, debilitation, mental illness or physical, mental or cognitive disability, is easily susceptible to abuse, neglect, mistreatment, intimidation, manipulation, coercion or exploitation. Without limitation, the term "vulnerable adult" includes any adult for whom a guardian or the person or property has been appointed.
- (d) Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, it is no defense to an offense or sentencing provision set forth in this section that the accused did not know that the victim was a vulnerable adult or that the accused reasonably believed the person was not a vulnerable adult unless the statute defining the underlying offense, or a related statute, expressly provides that knowledge that the victim is a vulnerable adult is a defense.
- (e) No person shall be sentenced for both an underlying offense and a crime against a vulnerable adult. No person shall be sentenced for a violation of subsection (a) of this section if the underlying offense, as charged against the accused, has an element that the victim was 62 years of age or older or was an "adult who was impaired" as defined in § 3902 of Title 31.
- (f) The following shall be underlying offenses for the purposes of this section:

Title 11:

§ 601 Offensive touching

§ 602(a) Menacing

§ 602(b)	Aggravated Menacing
§ 602(b) § 603	Reckless endangering in the second degree
§ 603 § 604	Reckless endangering in the first degree
§ 605	Abuse of a pregnant female in the second degree
§ 606	Abuse of a pregnant female in the first degree
§ 611	Assault in the third degree
§ 612	Assault in the second degree
§ 621	Terroristic threatening
§ 622	Hoax device
§ 625	Unlawfully administering drugs
§ 626	Unlawfully administering controlled substance or counterfeit substance
or narcotic drugs	omawiting temmistering controlled substance of counterfeit substance
§ 645	Promoting suicide
§ 763	Sexual harassment
§ 764	Indecent exposure in the second degree
§ 766	Incest
§ 767	Unlawful sexual contact in the third degree
§ 769	Unlawful sexual contact in the first degree
§ 770	Rape in the fourth degree
§ 774	Sexual extortion
§ 780	Female genital mutilation
§ 781	Unlawful imprisonment in the second degree
§ 782	Unlawful imprisonment in the first degree
§ 783	Kidnapping in the second degree
§ 791	Acts constituting coercion
§ 811	Criminal mischief
§ 825	Burglary in the second degree
§ 831	Robbery in the second degree
§ 835	Carjacking in the second degree
§ 841	Theft, except paragraph (c)(3)b.
§ 841A	Theft of a motor vehicle
§ 842	Theft; lost or mislaid property
§ 843	Theft; false pretense
§ 844	Theft; false promise
§ 846	Extortion
§ 848	Misapplication of property
§ 853	Unauthorized use of a vehicle
§ 854	Identity theft
§ 861	Forgery
§ 903	Unlawful use of credit card
§ 909	Securing execution of documents by deception
§ 914	Use of consumer identification information
§ 916	Home improvement fraud
§ 917	New home construction fraud, except paragraph (d)(3)
§ 1001	Bigamy
§ 1311	Harassment
§ 1312	Stalking, except paragraphs (d)(1) and (d)(2)
§ 1335	Violation of privacy
§ 1339	Adulteration
§ 1451	Theft of a firearm

National Center for Prosecution of Child Abuse National District Attorney Association 21

Title 6: § 73-604

Securities fraud.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

DC ST § 22-404.01 (2013). AGGRAVATED ASSAULT.

- (a) A person commits the offense of aggravated assault if:
- (1) By any means, that person knowingly or purposely causes serious bodily injury to another person; or
- (2) Under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to human life, that person intentionally or knowingly engages in conduct which creates a grave risk of serious bodily injury to another person, and thereby causes serious bodily injury.
- (b) Any person convicted of aggravated assault shall be fined not more than \$10,000 or be imprisoned for not more than 10 years, or both.
- (c) Any person convicted of attempted aggravated assault shall be fined not more than \$5,000 or be imprisoned for not more than 5 years, or both.

FLORIDA

FLA. STAT. ANN. § 794.08 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION.

- (1) As used in this section, the term "female genital mutilation" means the circumcising, excising, or infibulating, in whole or in part, the labia majora, labia minora, or clitoris of a female person.
- (2) A person who knowingly commits, or attempts to commit, female genital mutilation upon a female person younger than 18 years of age commits a felony of the first degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.
- (3) A person who knowingly removes, or causes or permits the removal of, a female person younger than 18 years of age from this state for purposes of committing female genital mutilation commits a felony of the second degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.
- (4) A person who is a parent, a guardian, or in a position of familial or custodial authority to a female person younger than 18 years of age and who knowingly consents to or permits the female genital mutilation of that female person commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.
- (5) This section does not apply to procedures performed by or under the direction of a physician licensed under chapter 458, an osteopathic physician licensed under chapter 459, a registered nurse licensed under part I of chapter 464, a practical nurse licensed under part I of chapter 464,

an advanced registered nurse practitioner licensed under part I of chapter 464, a midwife licensed under chapter 467, or a physician assistant licensed under chapter 458 or chapter 459 when necessary to preserve the physical health of a female person. This section also does not apply to any autopsy or limited dissection conducted pursuant to chapter 406.

(6) Consent of a female person younger than 18 years of age or the consent of a parent, guardian, or person who is in a position of familial or custodial authority to the female person younger than 18 years of age is not a defense to the offense of female genital mutilation.

GEORGIA

GA. CODE ANN. § 16-5-27 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION.

- (a) Any person:
- (1) Who knowingly circumcises, excises, or infibulates, in whole or in part, the labia majora, labia minora, or clitoris of a female under 18 years of age;
- (2) Who is a parent, guardian, or has immediate custody or control of a female under 18 years of age and knowingly consents to or permits the circumcision, excision, or infibulation, in whole or in part, of the labia majora, labia minora, or clitoris of such female; or
- (3) Who knowingly removes or causes or permits the removal of a female under 18 years of age from this state for the purpose of circumcising, excising, or infibulating, in whole or in part, the labia majora, labia minora, or clitoris of such female

shall be guilty of female genital mutilation.

- (b) A person convicted of female genital mutilation shall be punished by imprisonment for not less than five nor more than 20 years.
- (c) This Code section shall not apply to procedures performed by or under the direction of a physician, a registered professional nurse, a certified nurse midwife, or a licensed practical nurse licensed pursuant to Chapter 34 or 26, respectively, of Title 43 when necessary to preserve the physical health of the female. This Code section shall also not apply to any autopsy or limited dissection as defined by Code Section 45-16-21 which is conducted in accordance with Article 2 of Chapter 16 of Title 45.
- (d) Consent of the female under 18 years of age or the parent, guardian, or custodian of the female under 18 years of age shall not be a defense to the offense of female genital mutilation. Religion, ritual, custom, or standard practice shall not be a defense to the offense of female genital mutilation.
- (e) The statutory privileges provided by Chapter 5 of Title 24 shall not apply to proceedings in which one of the parties to the privilege is charged with a crime against a female under 18 years of age, but such person shall be compellable to give evidence only on the specific act for which the accused is charged.

HAWAII

HAWAI'I REV. STAT. § 707-710 (2013). ASSAULT IN THE FIRST DEGREE.

- (1) A person commits the offense of assault in the first degree if the person intentionally or knowingly causes serious bodily injury to another person.
- (2) Assault in the first degree is a class B felony.

<u>IDAHO</u>

IDAHO CODE ANN. § 18-1506A (2013). RITUALIZED ABUSE OF A CHILD -- EXCLUSIONS -- PENALTIES – DEFINITION.

- (1) A person is guilty of a felony when he commits any of the following acts with, upon, or in the presence of a child as part of a ceremony, rite or any similar observance:
- (a) Actually or in simulation, tortures, mutilates or sacrifices any warm-blooded animal or human being;
- (b) Forces ingestion, injection or other application of any narcotic, drug, hallucinogen or anaesthetic for the purpose of dulling sensitivity, cognition, recollection of, or resistance to any criminal activity;
- (c) Forces ingestion, or external application, of human or animal urine, feces, flesh, blood, bones, body secretions, nonprescribed drugs or chemical compounds;
- (d) Involves the child in a mock, unauthorized or unlawful marriage ceremony with another person or representation of any force or deity, followed by sexual contact with the child;
 - (e) Places a living child into a coffin or open grave containing a human corpse or remains;
- (f) Threatens death or serious harm to a child, his parents, family, pets or friends which instills a well-founded fear in the child that the threat will be carried out; or
 - (g) Unlawfully dissects, mutilates, or incinerates a human corpse.
- (2) The provisions of this section shall not be construed to apply to:
- (a) Lawful agricultural, animal husbandry, food preparation or wild game hunting and fishing practices and specifically the branding or identification of livestock;
 - (b) The lawful medical practice of circumcision or any ceremony related thereto; or
 - (c) Any state or federally approved, licensed or funded research project.

- (3) Any person convicted of a violation of this section shall be imprisoned in the state prison for a term of not more than life.
- (4) For the purposes of this section, "child" means any person under eighteen (18) years of age.

ILLINOIS

325 ILL. COMP. STAT. 5/3 (2013). DEFINITIONS.

As used in this Act unless the context otherwise requires:

"Adult resident" means any person between 18 and 22 years of age who resides in any facility licensed by the Department under the Child Care Act of 1969. For purposes of this Act, the criteria set forth in the definitions of "abused child" and "neglected child" shall be used in determining whether an adult resident is abused or neglected.

"Blatant disregard" means an incident where the real, significant, and imminent risk of harm would be so obvious to a reasonable parent or caretaker that it is unlikely that a reasonable parent or caretaker would have exposed the child to the danger without exercising precautionary measures to protect the child from harm.

"Child" means any person under the age of 18 years, unless legally emancipated by reason of marriage or entry into a branch of the United States armed services.

"Department" means Department of Children and Family Services.

"Local law enforcement agency" means the police of a city, town, village or other incorporated area or the sheriff of an unincorporated area or any sworn officer of the Illinois Department of State Police.

- "Abused child" means a child whose parent or immediate family member, or any person responsible for the child's welfare, or any individual residing in the same home as the child, or a paramour of the child's parent:
- (a) inflicts, causes to be inflicted, or allows to be inflicted upon such child physical injury, by other than accidental means, which causes death, disfigurement, impairment of physical or emotional health, or loss or impairment of any bodily function;
- (b) creates a substantial risk of physical injury to such child by other than accidental means which would be likely to cause death, disfigurement, impairment of physical or emotional health, or loss or impairment of any bodily function;
- (c) commits or allows to be committed any sex offense against such child, as such sex offenses are defined in the Criminal Code of 2012, or in the Wrongs to Children Act, and extending those definitions of sex offenses to include children under 18 years of age;
 - (d) commits or allows to be committed an act or acts of torture upon such child;
 - (e) inflicts excessive corporal punishment;

- (f) commits or allows to be committed the offense of female genital mutilation, as defined in Section 12-34 of the Criminal Code of 2012, against the child;
- (g) causes to be sold, transferred, distributed, or given to such child under 18 years of age, a controlled substance as defined in Section 102 of the Illinois Controlled Substances Act in violation of Article IV of the Illinois Controlled Substances Act or in violation of the Methamphetamine Control and Community Protection Act, except for controlled substances that are prescribed in accordance with Article III of the Illinois Controlled Substances Act and are dispensed to such child in a manner that substantially complies with the prescription; or
- (h) commits or allows to be committed the offense of involuntary servitude, involuntary sexual servitude of a minor, or trafficking in persons for forced labor or services as defined in Section 10-9 of the Criminal Code of 2012 against the child.

A child shall not be considered abused for the sole reason that the child has been relinquished in accordance with the Abandoned Newborn Infant Protection Act.

"Neglected child" means any child who is not receiving the proper or necessary nourishment or medically indicated treatment including food or care not provided solely on the basis of the present or anticipated mental or physical impairment as determined by a physician acting alone or in consultation with other physicians or otherwise is not receiving the proper or necessary support or medical or other remedial care recognized under State law as necessary for a child's wellbeing, or other care necessary for his or her well-being, including adequate food, clothing and shelter; or who is subjected to an environment which is injurious insofar as (i) the child's environment creates a likelihood of harm to the child's health, physical well-being, or welfare and (ii) the likely harm to the child is the result of a blatant disregard of parent or caretaker responsibilities; or who is abandoned by his or her parents or other person responsible for the child's welfare without a proper plan of care; or who has been provided with interim crisis intervention services under Section 3-5 of the Juvenile Court Act of 1987 and whose parent, guardian, or custodian refuses to permit the child to return home and no other living arrangement agreeable to the parent, guardian, or custodian can be made, and the parent, guardian, or custodian has not made any other appropriate living arrangement for the child; or who is a newborn infant whose blood, urine, or meconium contains any amount of a controlled substance as defined in subsection (f) of Section 102 of the Illinois Controlled Substances Act or a metabolite thereof, with the exception of a controlled substance or metabolite thereof whose presence in the newborn infant is the result of medical treatment administered to the mother or the newborn infant. A child shall not be considered neglected for the sole reason that the child's parent or other person responsible for his or her welfare has left the child in the care of an adult relative for any period of time. A child shall not be considered neglected for the sole reason that the child has been relinquished in accordance with the Abandoned Newborn Infant Protection Act. A child shall not be considered neglected or abused for the sole reason that such child's parent or other person responsible for his or her welfare depends upon spiritual means through prayer alone for the treatment or cure of disease or remedial care as provided under Section 4 of this Act. A child shall not be considered neglected or abused solely because the child is not attending school in accordance with the requirements of Article 26 of The School Code, as amended.

"Child Protective Service Unit" means certain specialized State employees of the Department assigned by the Director to perform the duties and responsibilities as provided under Section 7.2 of this Act.

"Person responsible for the child's welfare" means the child's parent; guardian; foster parent; relative caregiver; any person responsible for the child's welfare in a public or private residential agency or institution; any person responsible for the child's welfare within a public or private profit or not for profit child care facility; or any other person responsible for the child's welfare at the time of the alleged abuse or neglect, including any person that is the custodian of a child under 18 years of age who commits or allows to be committed, against the child, the offense of involuntary servitude, involuntary sexual servitude of a minor, or trafficking in persons for forced labor or services, as provided in Section 10-9 of the Criminal Code of 2012, or any person who came to know the child through an official capacity or position of trust, including but not limited to health care professionals, educational personnel, recreational supervisors, members of the clergy, and volunteers or support personnel in any setting where children may be subject to abuse or neglect.

"Temporary protective custody" means custody within a hospital or other medical facility or a place previously designated for such custody by the Department, subject to review by the Court, including a licensed foster home, group home, or other institution; but such place shall not be a jail or other place for the detention of criminal or juvenile offenders.

"An unfounded report" means any report made under this Act for which it is determined after an investigation that no credible evidence of abuse or neglect exists.

"An indicated report" means a report made under this Act if an investigation determines that credible evidence of the alleged abuse or neglect exists.

"An undetermined report" means any report made under this Act in which it was not possible to initiate or complete an investigation on the basis of information provided to the Department.

"Subject of report" means any child reported to the central register of child abuse and neglect established under Section 7.7 of this Act as an alleged victim of child abuse or neglect and the parent or guardian of the alleged victim or other person responsible for the alleged victim's welfare who is named in the report or added to the report as an alleged perpetrator of child abuse or neglect.

"Perpetrator" means a person who, as a result of investigation, has been determined by the Department to have caused child abuse or neglect.

"Member of the clergy" means a clergyman or practitioner of any religious denomination accredited by the religious body to which he or she belongs.

720 ILL. COMP. STAT. 5/12-32 (2013). RITUAL MUTILATION.

(a) A person commits ritual mutilation when he or she knowingly mutilates, dismembers or tortures another person as part of a ceremony, rite, initiation, observance, performance or

practice, and the victim did not consent or under such circumstances that the defendant knew or should have known that the victim was unable to render effective consent.

- (b) Ritual mutilation does not include the practice of male circumcision or a ceremony, rite, initiation, observance, or performance related thereto.
- (c) Sentence. Ritual mutilation is a Class 2 felony.

720 ILL. COMP. STAT. 5/12-33 (2013). RITUALIZED ABUSE OF A CHILD.

- (a) A person commits ritualized abuse of a child when he or she knowingly commits any of the following acts with, upon, or in the presence of a child as part of a ceremony, rite or any similar observance:
- (1) actually or in simulation, tortures, mutilates, or sacrifices any warm-blooded animal or human being;
- (2) forces ingestion, injection or other application of any narcotic, drug, hallucinogen or anaesthetic for the purpose of dulling sensitivity, cognition, recollection of, or resistance to any criminal activity;
- (3) forces ingestion, or external application, of human or animal urine, feces, flesh, blood, bones, body secretions, nonprescribed drugs or chemical compounds;
- (4) involves the child in a mock, unauthorized or unlawful marriage ceremony with another person or representation of any force or deity, followed by sexual contact with the child;
 - (5) places a living child into a coffin or open grave containing a human corpse or remains;
- (6) threatens death or serious harm to a child, his or her parents, family, pets, or friends that instills a well-founded fear in the child that the threat will be carried out; or
 - (7) unlawfully dissects, mutilates, or incinerates a human corpse.
- (b) The provisions of this Section shall not be construed to apply to:
- (1) lawful agricultural, animal husbandry, food preparation, or wild game hunting and fishing practices and specifically the branding or identification of livestock;
- (2) the lawful medical practice of male circumcision or any ceremony related to male circumcision;
 - (3) any state or federally approved, licensed, or funded research project; or
- (4) the ingestion of animal flesh or blood in the performance of a religious service or ceremony.

- (c) Ritualized abuse of a child is a Class 1 felony for a first offense. A second or subsequent conviction for ritualized abuse of a child is a Class X felony for which the offender may be sentenced to a term of natural life imprisonment.
- (d) (Blank).

720 ILL. COMP. STAT. 5/12-34 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION.

- (a) Except as otherwise permitted in subsection (b), whoever knowingly circumcises, excises, or infibulates, in whole or in part, the labia majora, labia minora, or clitoris of another commits female genital mutilation. Consent to the procedure by a minor on whom it is performed or by the minor's parent or guardian is not a defense to a violation of this Section.
- (b) A surgical procedure is not a violation of subsection (a) if the procedure is performed by a physician licensed to practice medicine in all its branches and:
 - (1) is necessary to the health of the person on whom it is performed; or
- (2) is performed on a person who is in labor or who has just given birth and is performed for medical purposes connected with that labor or birth.
- (c) Sentence. Female genital mutilation is a Class X felony.

INDIANA

INDIANA CODE § 35-42-2-1.5 (2013). AGGRAVATED BATTERY.

A person who knowingly or intentionally inflicts injury on a person that creates a substantial risk of death or causes:

- (1) serious permanent disfigurement;
- (2) protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ; or
- (3) the loss of a fetus;

commits aggravated battery, a Class B felony.

IOWA

KANSAS

KAN. STAT. ANN. § 21-5413 (2013). BATTERY; AGGRAVATED BATTERY; BATTERY AGAINST A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER; AGGRAVATED BATTERY AGAINST A LAW

ENFORCEMENT OFFICER; BATTERY AGAINST A SCHOOL EMPLOYEE; BATTERY AGAINST A MENTAL HEALTH EMPLOYEE.

- (a) Battery is:
- (1) Knowingly or recklessly causing bodily harm to another person; or
- (2) knowingly causing physical contact with another person when done in a rude, insulting or angry manner;
- (b) Aggravated battery is:
- (1)(A) Knowingly causing great bodily harm to another person or disfigurement of another person;
- (B) knowingly causing bodily harm to another person with a deadly weapon, or in any manner whereby great bodily harm, disfigurement or death can be inflicted; or
- (C) knowingly causing physical contact with another person when done in a rude, insulting or angry manner with a deadly weapon, or in any manner whereby great bodily harm, disfigurement or death can be inflicted;
- (2)(A) recklessly causing great bodily harm to another person or disfigurement of another person; or
- (B) recklessly causing bodily harm to another person with a deadly weapon, or in any manner whereby great bodily harm, disfigurement or death can be inflicted.
- (c) Battery against a law enforcement officer is:
 - (1) Battery, as defined in subsection (a)(2), committed against a:
- (A) Uniformed or properly identified university or campus police officer while such officer is engaged in the performance of such officer's duty; or
- (B) uniformed or properly identified state, county or city law enforcement officer, other than a state correctional officer or employee, a city or county correctional officer or employee, a juvenile correctional facility officer or employee or a juvenile detention facility officer, or employee, while such officer is engaged in the performance of such officer's duty; or
 - (2) battery, as defined in subsection (a)(1), committed against a:
- (A) Uniformed or properly identified university or campus police officer while such officer is engaged in the performance of such officer's duty; or
- (B) uniformed or properly identified state, county or city law enforcement officer, other than a state correctional officer or employee, a city or county correctional officer or employee, a juvenile correctional facility officer or employee or a juvenile detention facility officer, or employee, while such officer is engaged in the performance of such officer's duty; or

- (3) battery, as defined in subsection (a) committed against a:
- (A) State correctional officer or employee by a person in custody of the secretary of corrections, while such officer or employee is engaged in the performance of such officer's or employee's duty;
- (B) juvenile correctional facility officer or employee by a person confined in such juvenile correctional facility, while such officer or employee is engaged in the performance of such officer's or employee's duty;
- (C) juvenile detention facility officer or employee by a person confined in such juvenile detention facility, while such officer or employee is engaged in the performance of such officer's or employee's duty; or
- (D) city or county correctional officer or employee by a person confined in a city holding facility or county jail facility, while such officer or employee is engaged in the performance of such officer's or employee's duty.
- (d) Aggravated battery against a law enforcement officer is:
 - (1) An aggravated battery, as defined in subsection (b)(1)(A) committed against a:
- (A) Uniformed or properly identified state, county or city law enforcement officer while the officer is engaged in the performance of the officer's duty; or
- (B) uniformed or properly identified university or campus police officer while such officer is engaged in the performance of such officer's duty;
 - (2) an aggravated battery, as defined in subsection (b)(1)(B) or (b)(1)(C), committed against a:
- (A) Uniformed or properly identified state, county or city law enforcement officer while the officer is engaged in the performance of the officer's duty; or
- (B) uniformed or properly identified university or campus police officer while such officer is engaged in the performance of such officer's duty; or
 - (3) knowingly causing, with a motor vehicle, bodily harm to a:
- (A) Uniformed or properly identified state, county or city law enforcement officer while the officer is engaged in the performance of the officer's duty; or
- (B) uniformed or properly identified university or campus police officer while such officer is engaged in the performance of such officer's duty.
- (e) Battery against a school employee is a battery, as defined in subsection (a), committed against a school employee in or on any school property or grounds upon which is located a building or structure used by a unified school district or an accredited nonpublic school for student instruction or attendance or extracurricular activities of pupils enrolled in kindergarten or any of

the grades one through 12 or at any regularly scheduled school sponsored activity or event, while such employee is engaged in the performance of such employee's duty.

- (f) Battery against a mental health employee is a battery, as defined in subsection (a), committed against a mental health employee by a person in the custody of the secretary of social and rehabilitation services, while such employee is engaged in the performance of such employee's duty.
- (g)(1) Battery is a class B person misdemeanor.
 - (2) Aggravated battery as defined in:
 - (A) Subsection (b)(1)(A) is a severity level 4, person felony;
 - (B) subsection (b)(1)(B) or (b)(1)(C) is a severity level 7, person felony;
 - (C) subsection (b)(2)(A) is a severity level 5, person felony; and
 - (D) subsection (b)(2)(B) is a severity level 8, person felony.
 - (3) Battery against a law enforcement officer as defined in:
 - (A) Subsection (c)(1) is a class A person misdemeanor;
 - (B) subsection (c)(2) is a severity level 7, person felony; and
 - (C) subsection (c)(3) is a severity level 5, person felony.
 - (4) Aggravated battery against a law enforcement officer as defined in:
 - (A) Subsection (d)(1) or (d)(3) is a severity level 3, person felony; and
 - (B) subsection (d)(2) is a severity level 4, person felony.
 - (5) Battery against a school employee is a class A person misdemeanor.
 - (6) Battery against a mental health employee is a severity level 7, person felony.
- (h) As used in this section:
- (1) "Correctional institution" means any institution or facility under the supervision and control of the secretary of corrections;
- (2) "state correctional officer or employee" means any officer or employee of the Kansas department of corrections or any independent contractor, or any employee of such contractor, working at a correctional institution;
- (3) "juvenile correctional facility officer or employee" means any officer or employee of the juvenile justice authority or any independent contractor, or any employee of such contractor,

working at a juvenile correctional facility, as defined in K.S.A. 38-2302, and amendments thereto:

- (4) "juvenile detention facility officer or employee" means any officer or employee of a juvenile detention facility as defined in K.S.A. 38-2302, and amendments thereto;
- (5) "city or county correctional officer or employee" means any correctional officer or employee of the city or county or any independent contractor, or any employee of such contractor, working at a city holding facility or county jail facility;
- (6) "school employee" means any employee of a unified school district or an accredited nonpublic school for student instruction or attendance or extracurricular activities of pupils enrolled in kindergarten or any of the grades one through 12; and
- (7) "mental health employee" means an employee of the department of social and rehabilitation services working at Larned state hospital, Osawatomie state hospital and Rainbow mental health facility, Kansas neurological institute and Parsons state hospital and training center and the treatment staff as defined in K.S.A. 59-29a02, and amendments thereto.

KENTUCKY

KEN. REV. STAT. ANN. § 508.020 (2013). ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE.

- (1) A person is guilty of assault in the second degree when:
 - (a) He intentionally causes serious physical injury to another person; or
- (b) He intentionally causes physical injury to another person by means of a deadly weapon or a dangerous instrument; or
- (c) He wantonly causes serious physical injury to another person by means of a deadly weapon or a dangerous instrument.
- (2) Assault in the second degree is a Class C felony.

LOUISIANA

La. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 14:34.1 (2013). Second degree battery.

- A. Second degree battery is a battery when the offender intentionally inflicts serious bodily injury; however, this provision shall not apply to a medical provider who has obtained the consent of a patient.
- B. For purposes of this Section, the following words shall have the following meanings:

- (1) "Active member of the United States Armed Forces" shall mean an active member of the United States Army, the United States Marine Corps, the United States Navy, the United States Air Force, the United States Coast Guard, or the National Guard.
- (2) "Disabled veteran" shall mean a veteran member of the United States Army, the United States Marine Corps, the United States Navy, the United States Air Force, the United States Coast Guard, or the National Guard who is disabled as determined by the United States Department of Veteran Affairs.
- (3) "Serious bodily injury" means bodily injury which involves unconsciousness, extreme physical pain or protracted and obvious disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member, organ, or mental faculty, or a substantial risk of death.
- C. Whoever commits the crime of second degree battery shall be fined not more than two thousand dollars or imprisoned, with or without hard labor, for not more than five years, or both. At least one year of the sentence imposed shall be served without benefit of parole, probation, or suspension of sentence if the offender knew or should have known that the victim is an active member of the United States Armed Forces or is a disabled veteran and the second degree battery was committed because of that status.

LA. REV. STAT. ANN. § 14:107.1 (2013). RITUALISTIC ACTS.

- A. (1) The legislature hereby finds that this enactment is necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health, morals, safety, and welfare and for the support of state government and its existing public institutions.
 - (2) The legislature further recognizes that:
- (a) The preamble to the Constitution of Louisiana affirmatively states "We, the people of Louisiana, grateful to Almighty God for the civil, political, economic, and religious liberties we enjoy, and desiring to protect individual rights to life, liberty, and property; afford opportunity for the fullest development of the individual; assure equality of rights; promote the health, safety, education, and welfare of the people; maintain a representative and orderly government; ensure domestic tranquility; provide for the common defense; and secure the blessings of freedom and justice to ourselves and our posterity, do ordain and establish this constitution."
- (b) The state, under its police power, may enact laws in order to promote public peace, health, morals, and safety.
- B. (1) For purposes of this Subsection, "ritualistic acts" means those acts undertaken as part of a ceremony, rite, initiation, observance, performance, or practice that result in or are intended to result in:
 - (a) The mutilation, dismemberment, torture, abuse, or sacrifice of animals.
 - (b) The ingestion of human or animal blood or human or animal waste.
- (2) The acts defined in this Subsection are hereby determined to be destructive of the peace, health, morals, and safety of the citizens of this state and are hereby prohibited.

- (3) Any person committing, attempting to commit, or conspiring with another to commit a ritualistic act may be sentenced to imprisonment for not more than five years or fined not more than five thousand dollars, or both.
- C. (1) No person shall commit ritualistic mutilation, dismemberment, or torture of a human as part of a ceremony, rite, initiation, observance, performance, or practice.
- (2) No person shall commit ritualistic sexual abuse of children or of physically or mentally disabled adults as part of a ceremony, rite, initiation, observance, performance, or practice.
- (3) No person shall commit ritualistic psychological abuse of children or of physically or mentally disabled adults as part of a ceremony, rite, initiation, observance, performance, or practice.
- (4) Any person who commits, attempts to commit, or conspires with another to commit a violation of this Subsection shall be sentenced to imprisonment for not less than five nor more than twenty-five years and may be fined not more than twenty-five thousand dollars.
- D. Each violation that occurs under the provisions of this Section shall be considered a separate violation.
- E. The provisions of this Section shall not be construed to apply to generally accepted agricultural or horticultural practices and specifically the branding or identification of livestock.
- F. The provisions of this Section shall not be construed to apply to any state or federally approved, licensed, or funded research project.

MAINE

MAINE REV. STAT. ANN., § 208 (2013). AGGRAVATED ASSAULT.

- 1. A person is guilty of aggravated assault if he intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly causes:
- A. Serious bodily injury to another; or
- B. Bodily injury to another with use of a dangerous weapon; or
- C. Bodily injury to another under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life. Such circumstances include, but are not limited to, the number, location or nature of the injuries, the manner or method inflicted, the observable physical condition of the victim or the use of strangulation. For the purpose of this paragraph, "strangulation" means the intentional impeding of the breathing or circulation of the blood of another person by applying pressure on the person's throat or neck.
- 2. Aggravated assault is a Class B crime.

MARYLAND

MD. CODE ANN., HEALTH-GEN. § 20-601 (2013). Female genital mutilation prohibited.

In general

(a) Except as provided in § 20-602 of this subtitle, a person who knowingly circumcises, excises, or infibulates the whole or any part of the labia majora or labia minora or clitoris of an individual who is under the age of 18 years is guilty of female genital mutilation.

Guilt of responsible individuals

- (b) Except as provided in § 20-602 of this subtitle, a parent, guardian, or other individual is guilty of female genital mutilation if the individual:
- (1) Is legally responsible and charged with the care or custody of a child under the age of 18 years; and
- (2) Knowingly consents to the circumcision, excision, or infibulation of the whole or any part of the labia majora or labia minora or clitoris of the child.

MD. CODE ANN., HEALTH-GEN. § 20-602 (2013). SURGICAL OPERATIONS NECESSARY TO HEALTH OF INDIVIDUAL.

In general

(a) A surgical operation is not a violation of this subtitle if the operation is necessary to the health of the individual on whom it is performed and is performed by a person licensed in the State as a medical practitioner.

Customs or rituals

(b) In determining whether an operation is necessary to the health of the individual, no account may be taken of the belief on the part of any individual that the operation is required as a matter of custom or ritual.

MD. CODE ANN., HEALTH-GEN. § 20-603 (2013). FINES AND PENALTIES.

A person who violates the provisions of this subtitle is guilty of a felony and on conviction is subject to imprisonment not exceeding 5 years or a fine not exceeding \$5,000 or both.

MASSACHUSETTS

MASS. GEN. LAWS ANN. § 265.14 (2013). MAYHEM; PUNISHMENT.

Whoever, with malicious intent to maim or disfigure, cuts out or maims the tongue, puts out or destroys an eye, cuts or tears off an ear, cuts, slits or mutilates the nose or lip, or cuts off or disables a limb or member, of another person, and whoever is privy to such intent, or is present and aids in the commission of such crime, or whoever, with intent to maim or disfigure, assaults another person with a dangerous weapon, substance or chemical, and by such assault disfigures, cripples or inflicts serious or permanent physical injury upon such person, and whoever is privy to such intent, or is present and aids in the commission of such crime, shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for not more than twenty years or by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars and imprisonment in jail for not more than two and one half years.

MASS. GEN. LAWS ANN. § 265.15 (2013). ASSAULT; INTENT TO MURDER OR MAIM; PENALTY

Whoever assaults another with intent to commit murder, or to maim or disfigure his person in any way described in the preceding section, shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for not more than ten years or by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars and imprisonment in jail for not more than two and one half years.

MICHIGAN

MICH. COMP. LAWS § 750.86 (2013). ASSAULT WITH INTENT TO MAIM.

Assault with intent to maim-Any person who shall assault another with intent to maim or disfigure his person by cutting out or maiming the tongue, putting out or destroying an eye, cutting or tearing off an ear, cutting or slitting or mutilating the nose or lips or cutting off or disabling a limb, organ or member, shall be guilty of a felony, punishable by imprisonment in the state prison not more than 10 years or by fine of not more than 5,000 dollars.

MINNESOTA

MINN. STAT. § 144.3872 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION; EDUCATION AND OUTREACH.

The commissioner of health shall carry out appropriate education, prevention, and outreach activities in communities that traditionally practice female circumcision, excision, or infibulation to inform people in those communities about the health risks and emotional trauma inflicted by those practices and to inform them and the medical community of the criminal penalties contained in section 609.2245. The commissioner shall work with culturally appropriate groups to obtain private funds to help finance these prevention and outreach activities.

MINN. STAT. § 609.2245 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION; PENALTIES.

Subdivision 1. Crime.

Except as otherwise permitted in subdivision 2, whoever knowingly circumcises, excises, or infibulates, in whole or in part, the labia majora, labia minora, or clitoris of another is guilty of a felony. Consent to the procedure by a minor on whom it is performed or by the minor's parent is not a defense to a violation of this subdivision.

Subd. 2. Permitted activities.

A surgical procedure is not a violation of subdivision 1 if the procedure:

- (1) is necessary to the health of the person on whom it is performed and is performed by: (i) a physician licensed under chapter 147; (ii) a physician in training under the supervision of a licensed physician; or (iii) a certified nurse midwife practicing within the nurse midwife's legal scope of practice; or
- (2) is performed on a person who is in labor or who has just given birth and is performed for medical purposes connected with that labor or birth: (i) by a physician licensed under chapter 147; (ii) a physician in training under the supervision of a licensed physician; or (iii) a certified nurse midwife practicing within the nurse midwife's legal scope of practice.

MISSISSIPPI

MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-3-59 (2013). MAYHEM, DEFINITION AND PUNISHMENT.

Every person who, from premeditated design or with intent to kill or commit any felony, shall mutilate, disfigure, disable or destroy the tongue, eye, lip, nose, or any other limb or member of any person, shall be guilty of mayhem, and, on conviction thereof, shall be punished by imprisonment in the penitentiary not more than seven years or in the county jail not less than six months.

MISSOURI

MO. REV. STAT. § 568.065 (2013). GENITAL MUTILATION OF A FEMALE CHILD, PENALTY-AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES.

- 1. A person commits the crime of genital mutilation if such person:
- (1) Excises or infibulates, in whole or in part, the labia majora, labia minora, vulva or clitoris of a female child less than seventeen years of age; or
- (2) Is a parent, guardian or other person legally responsible for a female child less than seventeen years of age and permits the excision or infibulation, in whole or in part, of the labia majora, labia minora, vulva or clitoris of such female child.
- 2. Genital mutilation is a class B felony.
- 3. Belief that the conduct described in subsection 1 of this section is required as a matter of custom, ritual or standard practice, or consent to the conduct by the child on whom it is

performed or by the child's parent or legal guardian, shall not be an affirmative defense to a charge pursuant to this section.

- 4. It is an affirmative defense that the defendant engaged in the conduct charged which constitutes genital mutilation if the conduct was:
- (1) Necessary to preserve the health of the child on whom it is performed and is performed by a person licensed to practice medicine in this state; or
- (2) Performed on a child who is in labor or who has just given birth and is performed for medical purposes connected with such labor or birth by a person licensed to practice medicine in this state.

MONTANA

MON. CODE ANN. § 455-2-202 (2013). AGGRAVATED ASSAULT.

- (1) A person commits the offense of aggravated assault if the person purposely or knowingly causes serious bodily injury to another or purposely or knowingly, with the use of physical force or contact, causes reasonable apprehension of serious bodily injury or death in another.
- (2) A person convicted of aggravated assault shall be imprisoned in the state prison for a term not to exceed 20 years and may be fined not more than \$50,000, except as provided in 46-18-219 and 46-18-222.

NEBRASKA

NEB. REV. STAT. § 28-308 (2013). ASSAULT IN THE FIRST DEGREE; PENALTY.

- (1) A person commits the offense of assault in the first degree if he or she intentionally or knowingly causes serious bodily injury to another person.
- (2) Assault in the first degree shall be a Class II felony.

NEVADA

NEV. REV. STAT. ANN. § 200.5083 (2013). MUTILATION OF GENITALIA OF FEMALE CHILD: PENALTIES; DEFINITIONS.

- 1. A person who willfully:
- (a) Mutilates, or aids, abets, encourages or participates in the mutilation of the genitalia of a female child; or
- (b) Removes a female child from this state for the purpose of mutilating the genitalia of the child, is guilty of a category B felony and shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison

for a minimum term of not less than 2 years and a maximum term of not more than 10 years, and may be further punished by a fine of not more than \$10,000.

2. It is not a defense that:

- (a) The person engaging in the conduct prohibited by subsection 1 believes that the conduct is necessary or appropriate as a matter of custom, ritual or standard practice; or
- (b) The child, the parent or legal guardian of the child, or another person legally responsible for the child has consented to the conduct prohibited by subsection 1.

3. As used in this section:

- (a) "Child" means a person who is under 18 years of age.
- (b) "Mutilates the genitalia of a female child" means the removal or infibulation in whole or in part of the clitoris, vulva, labia major or labia minor for nonmedical purposes.

NEW HAMPSHIRE

N.H. REV. STAT. ANN. § 631:2 (2013). SECOND DEGREE ASSAULT.

- I. A person is guilty of a class B felony if he or she:
 - (a) Knowingly or recklessly causes serious bodily injury to another; or
- (b) Recklessly causes bodily injury to another by means of a deadly weapon, except that if the deadly weapon is a firearm, he or she shall be sentenced in accordance with RSA 651:2, II-g; or
- (c) Recklessly causes bodily injury to another under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life; or
 - (d) Purposely or knowingly causes bodily injury to a child under 13 years of age; or
 - (e) Recklessly or negligently causes injury to another resulting in miscarriage or stillbirth; or
 - (f) Purposely or knowingly engages in the strangulation of another.

II. In this section:

- (a) "Miscarriage" means the interruption of the normal development of the fetus other than by a live birth and not an induced abortion, resulting in the complete expulsion or extraction of a fetus.
- (b) "Stillbirth" means the death of a fetus prior to complete expulsion or extraction and not an induced abortion.
- (c) "Strangulation" means the application of pressure to another person's throat or neck, or the blocking of the person's nose or mouth, that causes the person to experience impeded breathing or blood circulation or a change in voice.

NEW JERSEY

NEW MEXICO

N.M. STAT. ANN. § 30-9-10 (2013). DEFINITIONS

As used in Sections 30-9-10 through 30-9-16 NMSA 1978:

- A. "force or coercion" means:
 - (1) the use of physical force or physical violence;
- (2) the use of threats to use physical violence or physical force against the victim or another when the victim believes that there is a present ability to execute the threats;
- (3) the use of threats, including threats of physical punishment, kidnapping, extortion or retaliation directed against the victim or another when the victim believes that there is an ability to execute the threats;
- (4) the perpetration of criminal sexual penetration or criminal sexual contact when the perpetrator knows or has reason to know that the victim is unconscious, asleep or otherwise physically helpless or suffers from a mental condition that renders the victim incapable of understanding the nature or consequences of the act; or
- (5) the perpetration of criminal sexual penetration or criminal sexual contact by a psychotherapist on his patient, with or without the patient's consent, during the course of psychotherapy or within a period of one year following the termination of psychotherapy.

Physical or verbal resistance of the victim is not an element of force or coercion;

- B. "great mental anguish" means psychological or emotional damage that requires psychiatric or psychological treatment or care, either on an inpatient or outpatient basis, and is characterized by extreme behavioral change or severe physical symptoms;
- C. "patient" means a person who seeks or obtains psychotherapy;
- D. "personal injury" means bodily injury to a lesser degree than great bodily harm and includes, but is not limited to, disfigurement, mental anguish, chronic or recurrent pain, pregnancy or disease or injury to a sexual or reproductive organ;
- E. "position of authority" means that position occupied by a parent, relative, household member, teacher, employer or other person who, by reason of that position, is able to exercise undue influence over a child:
- F. "psychotherapist" means a person who is or purports to be a:
 - (1) licensed physician who practices psychotherapy;

(2) licensed psychologist;
(3) licensed social worker;
(4) licensed nurse;
(5) counselor;
(6) substance abuse counselor;
(7) psychiatric technician;
(8) mental health worker;
(9) marriage and family therapist;

- (11) minister, priest, rabbi or other similar functionary of a religious organization acting in his role as a pastoral counselor;
- G. "psychotherapy" means professional treatment or assessment of a mental or an emotional illness, symptom or condition;
- H. "school" means any public or private school, including the New Mexico military institute, the New Mexico school for the blind and visually impaired, the New Mexico school for the deaf, the New Mexico boys' school, the New Mexico youth diagnostic and development center, the Los Lunas medical center, the Fort Stanton hospital, the New Mexico behavioral health institute at Las Vegas and the Carrie Tingley crippled children's hospital, that offers a program of instruction designed to educate a person in a particular place, manner and subject area. "School" does not include a college or university; and
- I. "spouse" means a legal husband or wife, unless the couple is living apart or either husband or wife has filed for separate maintenance or divorce.

NEW YORK

(10) hypnotherapist; or

N.Y. PENAL LAW § 130.85 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION.

- 1. A person is guilty of female genital mutilation when:
- (a) a person knowingly circumcises, excises, or infibulates the whole or any part of the labia majora or labia minora or clitoris of another person who has not reached eighteen years of age; or
- (b) being a parent, guardian or other person legally responsible and charged with the care or custody of a child less than eighteen years old, he or she knowingly consents to the circumcision, excision or infibulation of whole or part of such child's labia majora or labia minora or clitoris.

- 2. Such circumcision, excision, or infibulation is not a violation of this section if such act is:
- (a) necessary to the health of the person on whom it is performed, and is performed by a person licensed in the place of its performance as a medical practitioner; or
- (b) performed on a person in labor or who has just given birth and is performed for medical purposes connected with that labor or birth by a person licensed in the place it is performed as a medical practitioner, midwife, or person in training to become such a practitioner or midwife.
- 3. For the purposes of paragraph (a) of subdivision two of this section, no account shall be taken of the effect on the person on whom such procedure is to be performed of any belief on the part of that or any other person that such procedure is required as a matter of custom or ritual.

Female genital mutilation is a class E felony.

NORTH CAROLINA

N.C. GEN. STAT. § 14-32.4 (2013). ASSAULT INFLICTING SERIOUS BODILY INJURY; STRANGULATION; PENALTIES.

- (a) Unless the conduct is covered under some other provision of law providing greater punishment, any person who assaults another person and inflicts serious bodily injury is guilty of a Class F felony. "Serious bodily injury" is defined as bodily injury that creates a substantial risk of death, or that causes serious permanent disfigurement, coma, a permanent or protracted condition that causes extreme pain, or permanent or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ, or that results in prolonged hospitalization.
- (b) Unless the conduct is covered under some other provision of law providing greater punishment, any person who assaults another person and inflicts physical injury by strangulation is guilty of a Class H felony.

NORTH DAKOTA

N.D. CENT. CODE § 12.1-36-01 (2013). SURGICAL ALTERATION OF THE GENITALS OF FEMALE MINOR -- PENALTY -- EXCEPTION.

- 1. Except as provided in subsection 2, any person who knowingly separates or surgically alters normal, healthy, functioning genital tissue of a female minor is guilty of a class C felony.
- 2. A surgical operation is not a violation of this section if a licensed medical practitioner performs the operation to correct an anatomical abnormality or to remove diseased tissue that is an immediate threat to the health of the female minor. In applying this subsection, any belief that the operation is required as a matter of custom, ritual, or standard of practice may not be taken into consideration.

OHIO

OKLAHOMA

OKLA. STAT. ANN. TIT. 21, §751 (2013). MAIMING DEFINED.

Every person who, with premeditated design to injure another, inflicts upon his person any injury which disfigures his personal appearance or disables any member or organ of his body or seriously diminishes his physical vigor, is guilty of maining.

OKLA. STAT. ANN. TIT. 21, §760 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION.

- A. Female genital mutilation shall be unlawful in the State of Oklahoma. Whoever knowingly circumcises, excises, or infibulates, in whole or in part, the labia majora, labia minora, or clitoris of another shall, upon conviction, be guilty of a felony punishable by incarceration in the custody of the Department of Corrections for a term of not less than three (3) years nor more than life and a fine of not more than Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$20,000.00). Consent to the procedure by a minor on whom it is performed or by the parent or parents of the minor is not a defense to a violation of this subsection.
- B. A surgical procedure is not a violation of subsection A of this section if the procedure:
- 1. Is necessary as a recognized treatment for a known disease or for purposes of cosmetic surgery to repair a defect or injury for the person on whom it is performed and is performed by:
 - a. a licensed physician, or
 - b. a physician in training under the supervision of a licensed physician; or
- 2. Is necessary in the assistance of childbirth or for medical purposes connected with that labor or birth and is performed by:
 - a. a licensed physician,
 - b. a physician in training under the supervision of a licensed physician, or
 - c. a certified nurse-midwife.
- C. Any physician, physician in training, certified nurse-midwife or any other medical professional who performs or participates in a female genital mutilation procedure shall, in addition to the penalties in subsection A of this section, have the professional license or certification of the person permanently revoked.

OREGON

OR. REV. STAT. § 163.207 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION.

(1) A person commits the crime of female genital mutilation if the person:

- (a) Knowingly circumcises, excises or infibulates the whole or any part of the labia majora, labia minora or clitoris of a child; or
- (b) Is the parent, guardian or other person legally responsible for the care or custody of a child and knowingly allows the circumcision, excision or infibulation of the whole or any part of the child's labia majora, labia minora or clitoris.
- (2) Female genital mutilation is a Class B felony.
- (3)(a) A person who circumcises, excises or infibulates the whole or any part of a child's labia majora, labia minora or clitoris does not violate subsection (1) of this section if:
 - (A) The person is a physician, licensed to practice in this state; and
 - (B) The surgery is medically necessary for the physical well-being of the child.
- (b) In determining medical necessity for purposes of paragraph (a)(B) of this subsection, a person may not consider the effect on the child of the child's belief that the surgery is required as a matter of custom or ritual.

Note: 163.207 was enacted into law by the Legislative Assembly but was not added to or made a part of ORS chapter 163 or any series therein by legislative action. See Preface to Oregon Revised Statutes for further explanation.

OR. REV. STAT. § 431.827 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION PREVENTION AND EDUCATION ACTIVITIES.

The Oregon Health Authority shall establish and implement appropriate education, prevention and outreach activities in communities that traditionally practice female circumcision, excision or infibulation for the purpose of informing:

- (1) Those communities of the health risks and emotional trauma inflicted by the practices;
- (2) Those communities and the medical community as to the existence and ramifications of ORS 163.207; and
- (3) Those communities that the practices constitute physical injuries to a child for purposes of ORS 419B.005.

Note: 431.827 was enacted into law by the Legislative Assembly but was not added to or made a part of ORS chapter 431 or any series therein by legislative action. See Preface to Oregon Revised Statutes for further explanation.

PENNSYLVANIA

RHODE ISLAND

R.I. GEN. LAWS § 11-5-2 (2013). FELONY ASSAULT.

- (a) Every person who shall make an assault or battery, or both, with a dangerous weapon, or with acid or other dangerous substance, or by fire, or an assault or battery which results in serious bodily injury, shall be punished by imprisonment for not more than twenty (20) years.
- (b) Where the provisions of "The Domestic Violence Prevention Act", chapter 29 of title 12, are applicable, the penalties for violation of this section shall also include the penalties as provided in § 12-29-5.
- (c) "Serious bodily injury" means physical injury that:
 - (1) Creates a substantial risk of death;
- (2) Causes protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily part, member or organ; or
- (3) Causes serious permanent disfigurement or circumcises, excises or infibulates the whole or any part of the labia majora or labia minora or clitoris of a person.

SOUTH CAROLINA

SOUTH DAKOTA

TENNESSEE

TENN. CODE ANN. § 39-13-110 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION.

- (a) Except as otherwise permitted in subsection (b), whoever knowingly circumcises, excises or infibulates, in whole or in part, the labia majora, labia minora or clitoris of another commits a Class D felony. Consent to the procedure by a minor on whom it is performed or by the minor's parent is not a defense to a violation of this section.
- (b) A surgical procedure is not a violation of subsection (a), if the procedure is:
- (1) Necessary to the health of the person on whom it is performed and is performed by a licensed physician or physician-in-training under supervision of a licensed physician; or
- (2) Performed on a person who is in labor or who has just given birth and is performed for medical purposes connected with that labor or birth by a licensed physician or a physician-intraining under the supervision of a licensed physician.

TEXAS

TEX. FAM. CODE ANN. § 153.502 (2013). ABDUCTION RISK FACTORS.

- (a) To determine whether there is a risk of the international abduction of a child by a parent of the child, the court shall consider evidence that the parent:
- (1) has taken, enticed away, kept, withheld, or concealed a child in violation of another person's right of possession of or access to the child, unless the parent presents evidence that the parent believed in good faith that the parent's conduct was necessary to avoid imminent harm to the child or the parent;
- (2) has previously threatened to take, entice away, keep, withhold, or conceal a child in violation of another person's right of possession of or access to the child;
- (3) lacks financial reason to stay in the United States, including evidence that the parent is financially independent, is able to work outside of the United States, or is unemployed;
- (4) has recently engaged in planning activities that could facilitate the removal of the child from the United States by the parent, including:
 - (A) quitting a job;
 - (B) selling a primary residence;
 - (C) terminating a lease;
 - (D) closing bank accounts;
 - (E) liquidating other assets;
 - (F) hiding or destroying documents;
- (G) applying for a passport or visa or obtaining other travel documents for the parent or the child; or
 - (H) applying to obtain the child's birth certificate or school or medical records;
- (5) has a history of domestic violence that the court is required to consider under Section 153.004; or
 - (6) has a criminal history or a history of violating court orders.
- (a-1) In considering evidence of planning activities under Subsection (a)(4), the court also shall consider any evidence that the parent was engaging in those activities as a part of a safety plan to flee from family violence.
- (b) If the court finds that there is credible evidence of a risk of abduction of the child by a parent of the child based on the court's consideration of the factors in Subsection (a), the court shall also

consider evidence regarding the following factors to evaluate the risk of international abduction of the child by a parent:

- (1) whether the parent has strong familial, emotional, or cultural ties to another country, particularly a country that is not a signatory to or compliant with the Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction; and
- (2) whether the parent lacks strong ties to the United States, regardless of whether the parent is a citizen or permanent resident of the United States.
- (c) If the court finds that there is credible evidence of a risk of abduction of the child by a parent of the child based on the court's consideration of the factors in Subsection (a), the court may also consider evidence regarding the following factors to evaluate the risk of international abduction of the child by a parent:
- (1) whether the parent is undergoing a change in status with the United States Immigration and Naturalization Service that would adversely affect that parent's ability to legally remain in the United States:
- (2) whether the parent's application for United States citizenship has been denied by the United States Immigration and Naturalization Service;
- (3) whether the parent has forged or presented misleading or false evidence to obtain a visa, a passport, a social security card, or any other identification card or has made any misrepresentation to the United States government; or
 - (4) whether the foreign country to which the parent has ties:
- (A) presents obstacles to the recovery and return of a child who is abducted to the country from the United States;
- (B) has any legal mechanisms for immediately and effectively enforcing an order regarding the possession of or access to the child issued by this state;
 - (C) has local laws or practices that would:
- (i) enable the parent to prevent the child's other parent from contacting the child without due cause;
- (ii) restrict the child's other parent from freely traveling to or exiting from the country because of that parent's gender, nationality, or religion; or
- (iii) restrict the child's ability to legally leave the country after the child reaches the age of majority because of the child's gender, nationality, or religion;
- (D) is included by the United States Department of State on a list of state sponsors of terrorism;
- (E) is a country for which the United States Department of State has issued a travel warning to United States citizens regarding travel to the country;

- (F) has an embassy of the United States in the country;
- (G) is engaged in any active military action or war, including a civil war;
- (H) is a party to and compliant with the Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction according to the most recent report on compliance issued by the United States Department of State;
- (I) provides for the extradition of a parental abductor and the return of the child to the United States; or
- (J) poses a risk that the child's physical health or safety would be endangered in the country because of specific circumstances relating to the child or because of human rights violations committed against children, including arranged marriages, lack of freedom of religion, child labor, lack of child abuse laws, female genital mutilation, and any form of slavery.

TEX. HEALTH & SAFETY CODE ANN. §167.001 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION PROHIBITED.

- (a) A person commits an offense if the person knowingly circumcises, excises, or infibulates any part of the labia majora or labia minora or clitoris of another person who is younger than 18 years of age.
- (b) An offense under this section is a state jail felony.
- (c) It is a defense to prosecution under Subsection (a) that:
- (1) the person performing the act is a physician or other licensed health care professional and the act is within the scope of the person's license; and
 - (2) the act is performed for medical purposes.

<u>UTAH</u>

UTAH CODE ANN. § 76-5-109 (2013). CHILD ABUSE--CHILD ABANDONMENT

- (1) As used in this section:
 - (a) "Child" means a human being who is under 18 years of age.
 - (b)(i) "Child abandonment" means that a parent or legal guardian of a child:
 - (A) intentionally ceases to maintain physical custody of the child;
- (B) intentionally fails to make reasonable arrangements for the safety, care, and physical custody of the child; and
 - (C)(I) intentionally fails to provide the child with food, shelter, or clothing;

- (II) manifests an intent to permanently not resume physical custody of the child; or
- (III) for a period of at least 30 days:
 - (Aa) intentionally fails to resume physical custody of the child; and
 - (Bb) fails to manifest a genuine intent to resume physical custody of the child.
- (ii) "Child abandonment" does not include:
 - (A) safe relinquishment of a child pursuant to the provisions of Section 62A-4a-802; or
 - (B) giving legal consent to a court order for termination of parental rights:
 - (I) in a legal adoption proceeding; or
- (II) in a case where a petition for the termination of parental rights, or the termination of a guardianship, has been filed.
- (c) "Child abuse" means any offense described in Subsection (2), (3), or (4) or in Section 76-5-109.1.
 - (d) "Enterprise" is as defined in Section 76-10-1602.
- (e) "Physical injury" means an injury to or condition of a child which impairs the physical condition of the child, including:
 - (i) a bruise or other contusion of the skin;
 - (ii) a minor laceration or abrasion;
 - (iii) failure to thrive or malnutrition; or
- (iv) any other condition which imperils the child's health or welfare and which is not a serious physical injury as defined in Subsection (1)(f).
 - (f)(i) "Serious physical injury" means any physical injury or set of injuries that:
 - (A) seriously impairs the child's health;
 - (B) involves physical torture;
 - (C) causes serious emotional harm to the child; or
 - (D) involves a substantial risk of death to the child.
 - (ii) "Serious physical injury" includes:
 - (A) fracture of any bone or bones;

- (B) intracranial bleeding, swelling or contusion of the brain, whether caused by blows, shaking, or causing the child's head to impact with an object or surface;
- (C) any burn, including burns inflicted by hot water, or those caused by placing a hot object upon the skin or body of the child;
 - (D) any injury caused by use of a dangerous weapon as defined in Section 76-1-601;
- (E) any combination of two or more physical injuries inflicted by the same person, either at the same time or on different occasions:
 - (F) any damage to internal organs of the body;
- (G) any conduct toward a child that results in severe emotional harm, severe developmental delay or intellectual disability, or severe impairment of the child's ability to function;
- (H) any injury that creates a permanent disfigurement or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member, limb, or organ;
- (I) any conduct that causes a child to cease breathing, even if resuscitation is successful following the conduct; or
- (J) any conduct that results in starvation or failure to thrive or malnutrition that jeopardizes the child's life.
- (2) Any person who inflicts upon a child serious physical injury or, having the care or custody of such child, causes or permits another to inflict serious physical injury upon a child is guilty of an offense as follows:
 - (a) if done intentionally or knowingly, the offense is a felony of the second degree;
 - (b) if done recklessly, the offense is a felony of the third degree; or
 - (c) if done with criminal negligence, the offense is a class A misdemeanor.
- (3) Any person who inflicts upon a child physical injury or, having the care or custody of such child, causes or permits another to inflict physical injury upon a child is guilty of an offense as follows:
 - (a) if done intentionally or knowingly, the offense is a class A misdemeanor;
 - (b) if done recklessly, the offense is a class B misdemeanor; or
 - (c) if done with criminal negligence, the offense is a class C misdemeanor.
- (4) A person who commits child abandonment, or encourages or causes another to commit child abandonment, or an enterprise that encourages, commands, or causes another to commit child abandonment, is:

- (a) except as provided in Subsection (4)(b), guilty of a felony of the third degree; or
- (b) guilty of a felony of the second degree, if, as a result of the child abandonment:
 - (i) the child suffers a serious physical injury; or
 - (ii) the person or enterprise receives, directly or indirectly, any benefit.
- (5)(a) In addition to the penalty described in Subsection (4)(b), the court may order the person or enterprise described in Subsection (4)(b)(ii) to pay the costs of investigating and prosecuting the offense and the costs of securing any forfeiture provided for under Subsection (5)(b).
- (b) Any tangible or pecuniary benefit received under Subsection (4)(b)(ii) is subject to criminal or civil forfeiture pursuant to Title 24, Chapter 1, Utah Uniform Forfeiture Procedures Act.
- (6) A parent or legal guardian who provides a child with treatment by spiritual means alone through prayer, in lieu of medical treatment, in accordance with the tenets and practices of an established church or religious denomination of which the parent or legal guardian is a member or adherent shall not, for that reason alone, be considered to have committed an offense under this section
- (7) A parent or guardian of a child does not violate this section by selecting a treatment option for the medical condition of the child, if the treatment option is one that a reasonable parent or guardian would believe to be in the best interest of the child.
- (8) A person is not guilty of an offense under this section for conduct that constitutes:
 - (a) reasonable discipline or management of a child, including withholding privileges;
 - (b) conduct described in Section 76-2-401; or
 - (c) the use of reasonable and necessary physical restraint or force on a child:
 - (i) in self-defense;
 - (ii) in defense of others;
 - (iii) to protect the child; or
- (iv) to remove a weapon in the possession of a child for any of the reasons described in Subsections (8)(c)(i) through (iii).

VERMONT

VT. STAT. ANN. § 2701 (2013). DEFINITION OF AND PENALTY FOR MAIMING

Any person with malicious intent to maim or disfigure, who shall cut out or maim the tongue, put out or destroy an eye, cut or tear off an ear, cut, slit or mutilate the nose or lip, or cut or disable a limb or member of another person, and any person privy to such intent who shall be present aiding in the commission of such offense shall be imprisoned for life or for not less than seven years.

VIRGINIA

WASHINGTON

WEST VIRGINIA

W. VA. CODE ANN. § 61-8D-3A (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION; PENALTIES; DEFINITIONS.

- (a) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (b) of this section, any person who circumcises, excises or infibulates, in whole or in part, the labia majora, labia minora or clitoris of a female under the age of eighteen, or any parent, guardian or custodian of a female under the age of eighteen who allows the circumcision, excision or infibulation, in whole or in part, of such female's labia majora, labia minora or clitoris, shall be guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be imprisoned in a state correctional facility for not less than two nor more than ten years and fined not less than one thousand dollars nor more than five thousand dollars.
- (b) A surgical procedure is not a violation of this section if the procedure:
- (1) Is necessary to preserve the health of the child on whom it is performed and is performed by a licensed medical professional authorized to practice medicine in this state; or
- (2) The procedure is performed on a child who is in labor or has just given birth and is performed for legitimate medical purposes connected with that labor or birth by a licensed medical professional authorized to practice medicine in this state.
- (c) A person's belief that the conduct described in subsection (a) of this section: (i) Is required as a matter of custom, ritual or standard practice; or (ii) was consented to by the female on which the circumcision, excision or infibulation was performed shall not constitute a defense to criminal prosecution under subsection (a) of this section.

WISCONSIN

WIS. STAT. ANN. § 146.35 (2013). FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION PROHIBITED.

- (1) In this section, "infibulate" means to clasp together with buckles or stitches.
- (2) Except as provided in sub. (3), no person may circumcise, excise or infibulate the labia majora, labia minora or clitoris of a female minor.

- (3) Subsection (2) does not apply if the circumcision, excision or infibulation is performed by a physician, as defined in s. 448.01(5), and is necessary for the health of the female minor or is necessary to correct an anatomical abnormality.
- (4) None of the following may be asserted as a defense to prosecution for a violation of sub. (2):
- (a) Consent by the female minor or by a parent of the female minor to the circumcision, excision or infibulation.
 - (b) The circumcision, excision or infibulation is required as a matter of custom or ritual.
- (5) Whoever violates sub. (2) is guilty of a Class H felony.

WYOMING

FEDERAL LEGISLATION/ U.S. TERRITORIES

FEDERAL LEGISLATION

8 U.S.C.S. § 1374 (2013). Information regarding female genital mutilation.

(a) Provision of information regarding female genital mutilation.

The Immigration and Naturalization Service (in cooperation with the Department of State) shall make available for all aliens who are issued immigrant or nonimmigrant visas, prior to or at the time of entry into the United States, the following information:

- (1) Information on the severe harm to physical and psychological health caused by female genital mutilation which is compiled and presented in a manner which is limited to the practice itself and respectful to the cultural values of the societies in which such practice takes place.
- (2) Information concerning potential legal consequences in the United States for (A) performing female genital mutilation, or (B) allowing a child under his or her care to be subjected to female genital mutilation, under criminal or child protection statutes or as a form of child abuse.
- (b) Limitation.

In consultation with the Secretary of State, the Commissioner of Immigration and Naturalization shall identify those countries in which female genital mutilation is commonly practiced and, to

the extent practicable, limit the provision of information under subsection (a) of this section to aliens from such countries.

(c) "Female genital mutilation" defined.

For purposes of this section, the term "female genital mutilation" means the removal or infibulation (or both) of the whole or part of the clitoris, the labia minora, or labia majora.

18 U.S.C.S. § 116 (2013). Female genital mutilation.

- (a) Except as provided in subsection (b), whoever knowingly circumcises, excises, or infibulates the whole or any part of the labia majora or labia minora or clitoris of another person who has not attained the age of 18 years shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 5 years, or both.
- (b) A surgical operation is not a violation of this section if the operation is-
- (1) necessary to the health of the person on whom it is performed, and is performed by a person licensed in the place of its performance as a medical practitioner; or
- (2) performed on a person in labor or who has just given birth and is performed for medical purposes connected with that labor or birth by a person licensed in the place it is performed as a medical practitioner, midwife, or person in training to become such a practitioner or midwife.
- (c) In applying subsection (b)(1), no account shall be taken of the effect on the person on whom the operation is to be performed of any belief on the part of that person, or any other person, that the operation is required as a matter of custom or ritual.
- (d) Whoever knowingly transports from the United States and its territories a person in foreign commerce for the purpose of conduct with regard to that person that would be a violation of subsection (a) if the conduct occurred within the United States, or attempts to do so, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 5 years, or both.

AMERICAN SAMOA

GUAM

<u>PUERTO RICO</u>

VIRGIN ISLANDS